IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, Attorney General, State of Florida,

Respondent-Appellee.

EMERGENCY MOTION: CAPITAL CASE, DEATH WARRANT SIGNED; EXECUTION IMMINENT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 Chief Assistant CCR

JENNIFER M. COREY Florida Bar No. 0999717 Assistant CCR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
Post Office Drawer 5498
Tallahassee, Florida 32314-5498
(904) 487-4376
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an action for disclosure of public records pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes.

Appellant mailed to the Appellee two (2) formal requests for the disclosure of public records, pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statues, Article I, Section 24 of the Florida Constitution, and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) (R. 42, 44-45, Appellant's requests for public records to Appellee). These requests were mailed on August 7, 1995, and September 18, 1995 (Id.). The requests were for any and all records in Appellee's custody, care and/or control relating to Appellant, Rickey Bernard Roberts (Id.).

On September 27, 1995, Appellant filed a Complaint for Disclosure of Public Records in the Circuit Court of Leon County with a request for in camera inspection of withheld public records (R. 1-6).

On January 30 and February 5, 1996, Appellant inspected the files of the Appellee but was denied access to some public records. Appellee provided a written claim of exemption (R. 56), asserting the following exemptions:

January 30, 1996

Inventory of Withheld Documents in Rickey Bernard Roberts case:

Enclosed is a list of items withheld from the Rickey Bernard Roberts file, to which CCR representatives have been provided access on this date. The basis for withholding is the undersigned's belief that these items do not constitute "public records" under section 119.011, as construed by State v. Kokal, 562 So. 2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1990), as they simply contain the mental impressions of the

authors. Additionally, to the extent necessary, these items are exempt under Section 119.07(3)(1)(1995).

- 1.(a) One (1) yellow legal sized pad (25 handwritten pages)
 - (b) One (1) white legal sized pad (6 handwritten, 32 blank pages)
 - (c) Four (4) stapled yellow legal sized pages
 - (d) Twelve (12) stapled yellow legal sized pages
 - (e) Fifteen (15) stapled yellow legal sized pages
 - (f) Eight (8) stapled yellow legal sized pages
 - (g) Seven (7) stapled yellow legal sized pages
 - (h) One (1) white standard sized page.
 - (i) Handwritten proposed questions to a potential witness and related documents, compiled in preparation for collateral federal evidentiary hearing.

All of the above contain handwritten notes compromising AAG's mental impressions and strategy, used in preparation for direct appeal briefs and arguments, state and federal collateral actions, and, appeals therefrom.

- 2.(a) One legal sized manila folder containing a copy of defendant's statement at clemency proceeding (43 pages)
 - (b) One manila folder containing copy of case packet for clemency from Florida Parole Commission (145 pages)
 - (c) One manila folder containing a copy of Defendant's Memorandum In Support Of Rickey Roberts' Application and Prayer for Executive Clemency. (78 pages)

All of the above are exempt pursuant to Asay v. Florida Parole Commission, 649 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1994) and Fla. Stat. 14.28 (Fla. 1995) and Rule 16 of the Rules for executive clemency.

(R. 56). The withheld documents comprised some 353 pages (R. 143).

Appellant and Appellee entered into a joint stipulation resolving several pending motions (R. 35-56). On February 8, 1996, a hearing was held in the circuit court. The parties presented argument, and the court conducted an on the record in camera inspection of the documents claimed to be exempt by Appellee.

Regarding the claim of exemption for items 1(a) through 1(i), Appellee argued that these documents were not public records and if they were considered public records, they were exempt under Section 119.07(3)(1), Fla. Stat. (1995) (R. 92-96). Appellant argued that items 1(a) through 1(i) were public records (R. 116-121, 124-127). Regarding the exemption claimed under Section 119.07(3)(1), Appellant argued that this provision, which went into effect after Appellant made his public records requests and filed his complaint, could not be applied retroactively because a substantive law is to be construed as having prospective effect only (R. 96-98), because the provision was not remedial (R. 98-101), and because application of this provision only to death-sentenced persons would violate equal protection (R. 101-102, 109-110).

Regarding the claim of exemption for items 2(a) through 2(c), Appellee argued these documents were exempt under Asay v. Florida Parole Commission, 649 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1994), and Section 14.28, Fla. Stat. (R. 128-130). Appellant argued that

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), applied to these documents
(R. 130-131).

The court reviewed the withheld documents and ruled that none were disclosable (R. 131-142). The court entered two orders. The first order held that the Attorney General's office is obligated to disclose <u>Brady</u> material, but that Chapter 119 did not give the court jurisdiction to hear <u>Brady</u> claims, which must be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction (R. _____, Attachment 1).

The second order ("Final Order") held that Section 119.07(3)(1), Fla. Stat. (1995), did not violate equal protection or due process and should be applied retroactively (R. 59-60). The court ruled that items 1(a) through 1(h) were exempt because they were not public records and because they were exempt under Section 119.07(3)(1) (R. 62-63), and that item (1)(i) was a public record but was exempt under Section 119.07(3)(1) (R. 63). As to items 2(a) through 2(c), the court ruled that these documents were exempt under Section 14.28, Fla. Stat. (R. 64).

Mr. Roberts filed a notice of appeal, and this appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously held that items 1(a) through 1(h) were not public records. Notes, preliminary drafts, working drafts, or any document prepared in connection with the official

This order is not in the record on appeal and is therefore attached hereto.

business of an agency that is to perpetuate, communicate or formalize knowledge are subject to disclosure under Chapter 119. Notes that are intended as evidence of knowledge obtained in the transaction of agency business are public records. Further, the Attorney General failed to establish that the withheld materials are non-public records.

The trial court erred in applying the exemption under Section 119.07(3)(1), Fla. Stat. (1995), to the withheld materials. This provision should not be applied retroactively because it is not remedial. That is, at the time the statute was enacted, no problem existed requiring a remedy, and the Attorney General did not argue that any such problem existed. Even if the provision applies retroactively, application of this exemption violates equal protection because the provision applies only to indigent death-sentenced persons.

The trial court erred in holding that it lacked jurisdiction to examine the withheld documents for <u>Brady</u> material, even though the court ruled that the Attorney General was obligated to disclose <u>Brady</u> material. The court's ruling leaves Mr. Roberts with no forum in which he can litigate the Attorney General's obligation under <u>Brady</u>.

The trial court erred in refusing to order disclosure of any of the clemency materials contained in the Attorney General's files. As with the other records, the court erroneously ruled that it lacked jurisdiction to examine these documents for Brady material. Further, the Parole Commission's and/or Governor's

disclosure of these documents to the Attorney General has lifted any claim of confidentiality as to these documents. Finally, disclosure of these documents to the Attorney General but not to Mr. Roberts violates due process.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT ALL OF THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS WERE NOT DISCLOSABLE.

A. THE ATTORNEY GENERAL FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE WITHHELD DOCUMENTS WERE NON-PUBLIC RECORDS.

In Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid & Associates, Inc., 379 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1980), the Florida Supreme Court discussed the definition of "public records." The Court held public records are "any material prepared in connection with official agency business which is intended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type." Id. at 640. The Court went on to identify materials that are not public records:

To be contrasted with "public records" are materials prepared as drafts or notes, which constitute mere precursors of governmental "records" and are not, in themselves, intended as final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded. Matters which obviously would not be public records are rough drafts, notes to be used in preparing some other documentary material, and tapes or notes taken by a secretary as dictation. office memoranda and intra-office memoranda communicating information from one public employee to another or merely prepared for filing, even though not a part of the agency's later, formal public product would nonetheless constitute public records inasmuch as they supply the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business.

All such materials, regardless of whether they are in final form, are open for public inspection unless specifically exempted by the Legislature. Wait v. Florida Power & Light Co., 372 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1979). Notes, preliminary drafts, working drafts, or any document prepared in connection with the official business of an agency that is to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge regardless of whether it is in final form or the ultimate product of an agency, are subject to disclosure under Chapter 119. Shevin, 379 So. 2d 633; Times Publishing Co. v. <u>City of St. Petersburg</u>, 558 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Hillsborough Co. Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Co., 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); State ex rel. Veale v. City of Boca Raton, 353 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977, cert. <u>denied</u>, 360 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 1978); <u>Warden v. Bennett</u>, 340 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); and Copeland v. Cartwright, 38 Fla. Supp. 6 (Fla. 17th Cir. Ct. 1972), affirmed, 282 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-79 (1985). That a document is considered a personal note is immaterial. Notes that are prepared for filing or are otherwise intended as evidence of knowledge obtained in the transaction of agency business are public records. Florida Sugar Cane League v. Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, No. 91-4218 (Fla. 2d Cir. Ct. June 5, 1992). Furthermore, "interoffice and intra-office memoranda may constitute public records even though encompassing trial preparation materials." Coleman v. Austin, 521 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). See Orange County v. Florida Land Co., 450

So. 2d 341 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 458 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1984); Hillsborough County Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Co., 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

Kokal addressed the distinction between records that are public and records that are not. The documents at issue in Kokal were a list of items of evidence that may be needed for trial, a list of questions the attorney planned to ask a witness, a proposed trial outline, handwritten notes regarding a meeting with the other party's attorneys, and notes "in rough form" regarding the deposition of an anticipated witness. The Court held:

These documents are merely notes from the attorneys to themselves designed for their own personal use in remembering certain things. They seem to be simply preliminary guides intended to aid the attorneys when they later formalized the knowledge. We cannot imagine that the Legislature, in enacting the Public Records Act, intended to include within the term "public records" this type of material.

Kokal, 562 So. 2d at 327 (emphasis in original). In Mr. Roberts' case, the Attorney General's office improperly asserted that items 1(a) through 1(h) were non-public records.

The Attorney General provided these records to the court for an in camera inspection. After such inspection, the court concluded the records were non-public records. The court's conclusion was erroneous. Kokal; Tribune Company. The records at issue are public records.

These items all contain "notes," mostly handwritten.

Nonetheless, the essential requirements of Chapter 119 apply. If

the "prosecutor's notes to himself" are intended as "final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded," Kokal, at 327, then the notes are public records. If the "prosecutor's notes to himself" "supply the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business," id., then the notes are public records. A record "merely prepared for filing," is nonetheless a public record because it "suppl[lies] the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business." Orange County v. Florida Land Co., 450 So. 2d 341, 343 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (citing Shevin). notes at issue here may fall into this category; even if never circulated as inter-office memoranda, the notes at issue were made part of the Attorney General's file on Mr. Roberts' case. Further, the inclusion of these notes into the Attorney General's files evinces the intent of the attorney preparing them to perpetuate their existence.

If, on the other hand, the notes are "mere precursors of governmental "records" and are not, in themselves, intended as final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded," or "rough drafts," or "notes to be used in preparing some other documentary material," then the notes are not public records. Shevin; Kokal. However, the determination of whether a record is a public record is a factual determination that can be made only when the party claiming the exemption provides the court with the document claimed to be merely preliminary, and thus not a public record, and the document supplying the final evidence of the knowledge

contained in the notes or draft, thus a public record. Only by comparing the draft/notes with the final version can the court make the determination that the draft or notes are not public records. In this case, the State did not provide the court with the final version of these notes in order to make the comparison and determine whether the notes were indeed simply "preliminary guides intended to aid the attorneys when they later formalized the knowledge." Shevin; Kokal. Without such final document(s) or at least testimony regarding such document(s), the court is, by definition, unable to make the determination of whether the notes are public records.

In this case, if the "prosecutor's notes to himself" were never formalized into a final version, then the notes themselves are "the final evidence of knowledge obtained in connection with the transaction of official business." Shevin at 640; Kokal at 327. In Shevin, the Court held that the party's handwritten notes made during or shortly after interviews were not public records because the party later formalized the knowledge gained during the interview. Shevin at 641. Here, if the Attorney General never formalized the notes into a final form, the notes themselves are the final form, and are public records. If the notes were formalized into some final document, the Attorney General must provide that document to the court so that it may conduct an adequate in camera inspection to determine whether the notes claimed exempt are public records.

Further, this Court should reject any contention by the Attorney General that the pleadings and evidence it presented in court constitutes the formal agency statement on the subject matter and all else is merely preliminary or preparatory and, therefore, not a public record. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Company, 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); See also Bay County School Board v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 382 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (concluding that school board budget work sheets were materials prepared in connection with official agency business and tended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type and thus were public records); Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 85-79 (1985) (concluding that interoffice memorandum, correspondence, inspection reports, and other documents maintained by county public health units are public records).

In order to determine whether the notes are public records, the court must be provided with both the notes and the final document that formalized the knowledge contained in the notes. The court then has a two-step analysis to conduct: is the record a public record, and if so, is it part of the State's current file relating to any pending motion for post-conviction relief? This determination may be made after an evidentiary hearing.

Walton v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d at 1059. If the State provides both the draft and final form of the record, and testimony is not needed to establish that a document was later formalized, then the Court may conduct an in camera inspection of both documents

to determine whether the draft or notes are public records.

Kokal, 562 So. 2d at 327; Mendyk, 592 So. 2d at 1081; Walton, 634

So. 2d at 1062; Shevin, 379 So. 2d at 640-41; Fritz v. Norflor

Construction Co., 386 So. 2d 899, 901 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Times

Publishing Co. v. City of St. Petersburg, 558 So. 2d 487, 491

(Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Tribune Company, 493 So. 2d at 484.

Likewise, if the State claims a document is work product relating to current post-conviction litigation and not the trial and appeal, the State must provide that record for an in camera inspection. Walton, 634 So. 2d at 1062; Lopez v. Singletary, 634

So. 2d 1054, 1057-58 (Fla. 1993); Tribune Company, 493 So. 2d at 484.

If the record is a public record, and does not relate to a current motion for post-conviction relief, the record must be disclosed.

The burden of establishing a right to withhold a record falls on the agency. Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v.

Dempsey, 478 So. 2d 1128, 1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). At this time, the Attorney General has failed to prove the existence of a work product exemption or that the withheld materials are non-public records. Simply stated, the record in this case is completely devoid of the factual predicates which would permit this Court or the trial court to withhold these materials as non-public records.

Therefore, this Court should vacate the trial court's Final Order and order the immediate release of withheld documents because the documents are public record. Kokal; Walton.

Alternatively, this Court should remand this case for an evidentiary hearing in this matter in order to allow the Appellant an opportunity to investigate the factual predicates necessary to support the exemptions claimed by the Appellee.

- B. THE EXEMPTION FOR ATTORNEY GENERAL RECORDS IN SECTION 119.07(3)(L) SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY AND VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION.
 - 1. Section 119.07(3)(1), Fla. Stat. (1995), Does Not Apply Retroactively.

Florida courts uniformly recognize that access to public records is a substantive rather than a procedural right and therefore that an exemption to the public records law is substantive, not procedural, law. Wait v. Florida Power & Light, 372 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1979); Orange County v. Florida Land Co., 450 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 458 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1984) ("Access to public records is a matter of substantive rather than practice and procedure"). In the absence of an explicit legislative expression to the contrary, a substantive law is to be construed as having prospective effect only. Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1985); State v. Lavazolli, 434 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1983).

This rule "mandates that statutes that interfere with vested rights will not be given retroactive effect." Young, 472 So. 2d at 1154. Such legislative attempts which abrogate vested rights are unconstitutional, especially in those instances in which retrospective operation of law would impair or destroy existing rights. Id.

In this case, the attorney work product exemption at Section 119.07(3)(1), which took effect on October 1, 1995, is substantive in nature. The exemption provides:

For purposes of capital collateral litigation as set forth in §27.7001, the Attorney General's office is entitled to claim this exemption for those public records prepared for direct appeal as well as for all capital collateral litigation after direct appeal until execution of sentence or imposition of a life sentence.

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