IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Other Deputy Glerk

010 1 WHITE

FEB

13 1996

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FEB 20 1996

Appellant,

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

CASE NO. 87,389

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, Attorney General of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WENDY S. MORRIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0890537

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL - SUITE PL01 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-9935

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

A remedial statute is designed to correct an existing law, redress an existing grievance, or introduce regulations conducive to the public good." It is also defined as "[a] statute giving a party a mode of remedy for a wrong, where he had none, or a

different one, before." Black's Law Dictionary, 5th Ed., 1979.

In the present case, the legislature amended Section 119.07(3)(1)1., Florida Statutes, to extend the exemption for the Attorney General's capital litigation records for a remedial purpose.

As enunciated by the Department at the hearing below, the legislature made the following finding in support of the amendment:

The Legislature finds that it is a public necessity to exempt certain attorney records as described in s. 119.07($\overline{3}$)(1)1., Florida Statutes, order to ensure that the work product developed by the attorneys of the Attorney General's Office during direct appeal remains confidential through the proceedings. post-conviction disclosure premature information could be detrimental to the Attorney General's legal representation in these proceedings if the material disclosed prior to were disposition οf the postconviction Such a result could proceedings. interfere with the effective efficient administration of government by hampering the Attorney General's ability to rely on the materials prepared by the attorneys for direct appeal when such materials reflect the attorney's mental impression, conclusion. litigation strategy, legal theory. Thus, the Legislature determines that the public harm in disclosing this work product any public significantly outweighs disclosure. benefit derived from Furthermore a capital defendant's ability to secure other public records is not diminished by nondisclosure of these attorney work products. [Emphasis removed].

Ch. 95-398, § 17, Laws of Fla.

The instant case demonstrates the necessity for the Roberts' direct appeal was affirmed by this amendment. Roberts v. State, 510 So. 2d 885 Court on July 2, 1987. (Fla. 1987). Almost ten years later, he filed this public records request in preparation for a possible motion for post-conviction relief under Florida Rule of Procedure 3.850. Because death case litigation does not conclude with resolution of the direct appeal but in most cases continues until the execution, attorney work product in such cases must be protected until the litigation ends. In contrast, litigation in civil cases and in most noncapital criminal cases ends with the direct Clearly, the trial court properly concluded that the instant amendment is remedial and therefore retroactive.

In <u>City of Orlando v. Desjardins</u>, 493 So. 2d 1027, 1028 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that the then newly exemption for attorney work product applied retroactively to causes of action arising before the effective date of the exemption. When the legislature initially enacted Chapter 119, it did so without creating an exemption for attorney records relating to anticipated or pending litigation. <u>Id</u>. The 1984 Legislature rectified the situation by creating the exemption. <u>Id</u>. This Court held that such exemption applied retroactively to causes of action exeruing prior to the effective date of the statute, stating:

If a statute is found to be remedial in nature, it can and should be retroactively applied in order to serve its intended purposes . . The

statutory exemption, according protection temporary from the disclosure of sensitive documents, is addressed to precisely the type of "[r]emedial rights [arising] for the purpose of protecting or enforcing substantive rights," . , which is allowed retroactive application. contextual examination of the exemption leaves little doubt as to its salutary and protective purpose of mitigating the harsh provisions of the Florida Public Records Act as applied to public entities' litigation files in ongoing litigation.

This Court further noted that, prior to enactment of the exemption, public entities suffered a disadvantaged status vis-a-vis private opponents in litigation. Id. at 1029. The Court found that the exemption well accommodated the competing interests in the confidentiality of the attorneyclient relationship and the government in the sunshine. Similarly, in the present case, the 1995 Amendment takes account of the difference between capital litigation and other kinds of litigation and balances the right disclosure with the need for an attorney-client privilege between the Attorney General's Office and the State of Because of the amendment, the State of Florida is Florida. no longer in a disadvantaged status vis-a-vis in litigation.

2. Section 119.07(3)(1); Fla. Stat. (1995), does not violate the Equal Protection Clause.

Appellant contends that the amendment violates the Equal Protection Clause. However, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. Below, CCR contended that \$119.07(3)(1) violated equal protection because it treats

death-sentenced inmates, as a class, differently from inmates not sentenced to death (T 28-9). For the first time before this Court, CCR draws a new distinction: that the statute treats death-sentenced inmates represented by "state paid counsel" differently from such inmates represented by private counsel. Since this point was not raised below, it is not preserved for review. See Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988) (refusing to consider certain claims by death-sentenced inmate, when the claims were not presented to circuit court).

Even if the argument is preserved, Roberts' equal protection claim has no merit. He contends that §119.07(3)(1) violates equal protection because it "applies to indigent capital defendants who are represented by state paid counsel" (IB, p. 16). He first notes the statute's express cross-reference to §27.7001, Florida Statutes. make this point, Roberts misleadingly quotes only a portion of that cross-reference, which reads:

For purposes of capital collateral litigation as set forth in §27.7001, the Attorney General's office is entitled to claim this exemption...

Nothing in the cross-reference limits the exemption to public records requests made on behalf of death-sentenced inmates represented by state paid counsel. The obvious purpose of the cross-reference is to make it clear the

exemption applies only to postconviction litigation for death cases. 1

The Department's reading of §119.07(3)(1) is reinforced by the legislative findings set forth in Ch. 95-398, §17, Laws of Fla., which were quoted earlier in this brief. The quoted language does not distinguish between death-sentenced inmates represented by private versus public-paid counsel. As with the operative statute, all death sentenced inmates are treated alike. It was for this reason the trial court rejected Roberts' equal protection claim (R 59-60).

The real issue, and the one which was argued below, is whether the statute properly exempts certain records from disclosure in capital postconviction litigation only. Preliminarily, the standard of review is the rational basis, not strict scrutiny, test. Strict scrutiny applies in only two situations. First, it applies to classifications based on race, alienage, or national origin. Graham v. Richardson, 403 U.S. 365, 372, 91 S.Ct. 1848, 1852, 29 L.Ed.2d 534 (1971). Second, it applies to classifications infringing on fundamental rights. See, e.g., Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330, 92 S.Ct. 995, 31 L.Ed.2d274 (1972).

¹ For purpose of this appeal, Appellee will assume that CCR has statutory authority to bring a Ch. 119 lawsuit on behalf of a death-sentenced inmate.

Appellee notes that this Court's rules treat death case litigation differently. Rule 3.851 is limited to collateral relief "after death sentence." Rule 3.851(b) imposes shorter time limits than those in Rule 3.850.

Here, the distinction is between death and non-death postconviction litigation. Certain documents are exempt from disclosure under Ch. 119, when they are part of the Attorney General's files for capital collateral proceedings. Section 119.07(3)(1) cannot be read to involve race, alienage, or national origin.

Roberts has no right, recognized as "fundamental" under the U.S. Constitution, to obtain attorney work product. His right is under Art. I, §24 of the Florida Constitution, and Ch. 119. Art. I, §24(c) provides that the Legislature may establish exemptions from disclosure; the Legislature adopted the challenged exemption upon making the findings required by Art. I, §24(c). Fundamental rights are not at stake.

Consequently, the proper standard of review is the highly deferential, rational basis test. See F.C.C. v. Beach, _____, 113 S.Ct. 2096, 2101, 124 L.Ed.2d 211 (1993):

[e]qual protection is not a license for courts to judge the wisdom, fairness, or logic ο£ legislative choices. **In areas** of social economic policy, statutory æ classification that neither proceeds suspect lines nor infringes fundamental constitutional rights must upheld against equa≟ protection challenge if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for classification. [e.s.] [citations omitted]

The statute draws a reasonable distinction. As noted in the language quoted above, the 1995 Legislature found that

"certain attorney records" needed to remain confidential during capital collateral proceedings. Disclosure could

be detrimental to the Attorney General's legal representation...
[and] could interfere with effective and efficient administration of government by hampering the Attorney General's ability to rely on the materials prepared by the attorneys for direct appeal.

Roberts does not dispute the Legislature's findings. Thus, there is an unchallenged, rational basis for §119.07(3)(1). The statute does not violate equal protection.

Finally, Appellee notes that §119.07(3)(1) merely amends existing law. Before the 1995 change, all attorney work product was exempt, at least until a direct appeal was over, under §119.07(3)(n) (1993). Additionally, attorney work product relating to active capital collateral proceedings was exempt by virtue of this Court's decisions in State v. Kokal, 562 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1990); and Walton v. Dugger, 634 So.2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1993). The only effect of the 1995 amendment was to continue the exemption of direct appeal work product until a death sentence was executed or reduced to life imprisonment. Under these circumstances, Roberts' equal protection argument evaporates.

C. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT IT LACKED JURISDICTION TO GRANT RELIEF BASED ON BRADY v. MARYLAND, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

Oblivious to the entire record. Roberts claims the trial court refused to consider whether any withheld documents should have been disclosed under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The trial court made no such ruling. Instead, the trial court recognized its legal and practical inability to grant relief compelled by a Brady violation.

At the outset of the hearing below, the parties stipulated to an order addressing the applicability of <u>Brady</u> to public records exempt from disclosure under Ch. 119. In that order, the trial court declared that Chapter 119 did not give it jurisdiction to hear <u>Brady</u> claims, and that such claims must be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction. Nevertheless, the court, in the same order, declared that the Attorney General was "obligated to disclose <u>Brady</u> material."

More important, the trial count clarified its ruling during the hearing:

THE COURT: Well, with the caveat of my prior ruling that--

MR. COUTURE: Exactly.

THE COURT: Yes, Certainly if I see anything here that obviously to me

This order was omitted from the record on appeal, but is attached as Appendix A.

is Brady material, I would certainly be willing to say to you that I have found something that's Brady material, for whatever that's worth.

(T 61). Later, the trial court explained:

I think if something is so obviously Brady material that I would recognize it, not knowing anything about the case, I would want CCR to know. . . .

(T 64). The quoted passages are legally and practically sound. As a practical matter, it would be extremely difficult for any court, not familiar with Roberts' case, to recognize a document as material and exculpatory. It would be impossible for such court to know whether the document had been disclosed earlier, presumably at the time of trial or sentencing.

As a legal matter, even CCR does not suggest how a circuit court in Leon County -- presiding over a Ch. 119 lawsuit -- would have jurisdiction to grant Brady relief in a death case before another circuit court or this Court. CCR also refuses to acknowledge the obvious: that only the court which tried and sentenced Roberts, or this Court, would have jurisdiction even to stay proceedings pending resolution of a Brady claim.

At the least, the trial court did not refuse to examine the withheld documents for <u>Brady material</u>. To the contrary, the court expressly declared it would want CCR to know if such material existed. By not requiring the Attorney General to release any withheld documents as Brady material,

the trial court implicitly found no such material was present.

Hoffman v. State, 613 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1992), does not compel the reversal and remand sought by Roberts. In relevant part, Hoffman stands for the proposition that Ch. 119 must be followed by an inmate seeking public records "with respect to agencies outside the judicial circuit in which the case was tried." Id. at 406. Nevertheless, Hoffman is totally silent as to Brady claims. It does not expand or contract a circuit court's jurisdiction to hear actions brought under Ch. 119. Appellee does not, in this appeal, contest the trial court's ability to look for Brady material, and inform CCR of its existence.

whether <u>Brady</u> requires disclosure despite a Ch. 119 exemption is an issue that is not ripe for review, as resolution of the issue would depend on facts not before this Court. For example, another trial court in another case might discern <u>Brady</u> material among clemency documents. However, this Court has held <u>Brady</u> does not apply to clemency proceedings. <u>Asay v. Florida Parole Commission</u>, 649 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1994).

In short, this Court should recognize the trial court's willingness to look for <u>Brady</u> material, and reject Roberts' argument. Whether <u>Brady</u> supersedes a Ch. 119 exemption is an issue not ripe for review.

D. ITEMS 2(A)-(C) ARE EXEMPT FROM DISCLOSURE AS CLEMENCY RECORDS UNDER SECTION 14.28, FLORIDA STATUTES.

The trial court properly denied the complaint with respect to Items 2(a)-(c), the clemency materials because clemency records are exempt from Chapter 119, Florida In Parole Com'n v. Lockett, 620 So. 2d 153, 154-55 (Fla. 1993), this Court held that article IV, section 8, of the Florida Constitution, vests the clemency process executive branch, and therefore the solelv in the legislature may not preempt or overrule clemency rules without violating the separation of powers doctrine. Rules of Executive Clemency provide for the confidentiality of the Florida Parole Commission's clemency records until the Governor determines otherwise. Id. at 156. Therefore, this Court held that the clemency investigative files and reports relating to a prisoner under sentence of death were not public records for purposes of Chapter 119. Id. at 158.

Subsequent to the <u>Lockett</u> decision, the 1993 Legislature enacted Section 14.28, Florida Statutes, which presently provides in relevant part;

Executive clemency. -- All records developed or received by any state entity pursuant to a Board of Executive investigation shall Clemency confidential and exempt from the 119.07(1) provisions $\circ f$ s. and s. the Art. Ι of 24(a), However, such records Constitution may be released upon the approval of the Governor.

See Ch. 95-356, § 1. Laws of Fla.; Ch. 93-405, § 6, Laws of Fla. In Asay v. Florida Parole Comin. 649 So. 2d 859, 860

(Fla. 1994), this Court again acknowledged that Florida constitutional law exempts clemency records from any disclosure not authorized by the Governor. In the present case, the Department properly withheld items 2(a)-(c) because they are exempt from disclosure as clemency records.

Roberts contends that the above provisions were waived because the clemency materials were given to the Attorney General's Office. This argument is without merit. First, the argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not made below. Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 1988); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Roberts made only the following argument with respect to the clemency records at the hearing:

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